9,22

IN THE SUPREME COURT IN AND FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

SID A WHITE

AUG 28 1991

ELERK SUPREME COURT

WHENE COURS

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN RE:

Forfeiture of 1985 Ford Ranger Pickup Truck, VIN # 1FTBR10S7FUB74784, Florida License #802-DPU;

and \$453.00 U.S. Currency.

CASE NO.: 78,456

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

On Petition for Review of a Decision of the First District Court of Appeal

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General

CHARLES A. FINKEL
Assistant Attorney General

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol - Suite 1501 Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-1573

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 1, 1989, officers of the Panama City Police Department and the Bay County Sheriff's Department conducted a reverse sting in a parking lot in Panama City, Florida. Alan R. Barry, driver and co-owner of the 1985 Ford pickup purchased approached Investigator Ben Moore and individually wrapped rock of crack cocaine for twenty dollars (\$20.00). Officers then approached Mr. Barry to arrest him for possession of cocaine. Mr. Barry attempted to run over the officers and left the parking lot. Barry was apprehended and charged with possession of cocaine, tampering with evidence, and two counts aggravated assault upon a police officer. The Panama City Police Department seized the 1985 Ford Ranger pickup truck.

The title to the motor vehicle sought to be forfeited was registered to Alvin R. Barry and his son Alan R. Barry. The parties agreed by stipulation that the father was an innocent owner with his son and that the father neither knew or should have known by reasonable inquiry that such property was employed or likely to be employed in criminal activity.

The State filed a petition for rule to show cause and for final order of forfeiture against the 1985 Ford Ranger pickup truck. Alan R. Barry filed an answer and asserted the affirmative defense that the vehicle in question is the subject of joint ownership by the respondent and his father, Alvin R. Barry. The trial court subsequently issued an

order declaring that Florida Statute 932.701(2)(e) is unconstitutional and denied the forfeiture. On appeal the First District Court of Appeal reversed and remanded the case to the trial court for appropriate disposition of the property consistent with the Court's opinion.

The majority of the Court declined to follow In Re Forfeiture of 1978 BMW automobile, 524 So. 2d 1077 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988), because the result reached in that case appeared to establish constitutional impediments arising from both equal protection and due process considerations. The majority opinion further indicated that the concept of imputed knowledge, or imputed criminality, was created by the Second District Court's decision, not the legislature, and held that an "innocent owner" need not be the owner of the whole property where the ownership is divisible and the property is susceptible of division in kind or sale and division of the proceeds.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Florida Legislature has created a specific exemption to the property forfeiture statute where the innocent co-owner of jointly held property sought to be forfeited is the spouse of the wrongdoer. The legislative intent of this statute is to prevent the economic ruin of the family unit by the irresponsible criminal action of one spouse at the expense of the other and remaining family dependents. The Legislature and the Courts have long recognized the necessity and desirability of preserving the marital relationship through protection of the innocent owner, who as a spouse serves this important goal. However, the protection of an innocent co-owning parent from the wrongdoing of his adult son would only allow frustration of the forfeiture statute without advancing any important legislative goal or preserving any inherent property right.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL IN HOLDING THAT THE GUILTY KNOWLEDGE OF ONE CO-OWNER IS AN INSUFFICIENT BASIS TO JUSTIFY A FORFEITURE OF THE ENTIRE PROPERTY.

A. The decision conflicts with prior decisions of the Second and Third District Courts of Appeal.

The First District Court of Appeal declined to follow the precedent of two cases out of the Second District Court of Appeal which have ruled contrary to the co-owners position herein. The <u>Forfeiture of the 1987 BMW Auto</u>, 524 So. 2d 1077 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), a father and son were co-owners. The Court discussed the history of the reasonable innocent owner exception to forfeiture and stated:

Appellants could find no determining the effect of conjunctive ownership as opposed to alternative coownership... Neither could Appellants argue that there should be a difference. We disagree. The meaning Legislature's amendment of the section 932.703(2) is clear when the coowners are husband and wife, it makes no difference how the property is titled or registered. If one of them reasonably innocent owner, then the property is not to be forfeited. expressly Legislature limited amendment to husband and wife co-owners and we will not extend it to all coowners. Expressio unius est exclusio alterius.

Id. at 1080.

The Second District certified the question as one of great public importance but the parties did not bring the matter to the Supreme Court. Similarly in City of

Clearwater v. Malick, 429 So. 2d 718 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), a father and son were co-owners, with the vehicle titled in the alternative. The son admitted that he was preparing to snort cocaine in the subject van. The city stipulated that the father had no knowledge of the criminal activity. The Court held that where the vehicle is titled in the alternative, the guilty knowledge of one co-owner is a sufficient basis to justify forfeiture.

The Malick case was consistent with the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in In Re 1979 Lincoln Continental, etc., 405 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981). In that case Robert Brown was driving a Lincoln Continental registered in the name of "Robert Brown or Mae Frances Brown" when it was stopped and a kilo of cocaine was seized from the back seat by Miami police officers. Mrs. Brown contended that her interest in the vehicle should not be forfeited because she was unaware of the criminal purpose for which it was employed. The Court held that each of the named parties is deemed the "owner" of property titled in the alternative so that the undisputed guilty knowledge of Robert Brown was sufficient to justify forfeiture even if the "other owner", Mrs. Brown, was shown to have been entirely innocent.

B. Statement as to why the Supreme Court should accept jurisdiction and review this appeal on its merits.

The decision by First District Court of Appeal creating divisible ownership and declining to impute the guilty knowledge of one owner to an entirely innocent co-owner, is

contrary to and in direct conflict with In Re Forfeiture of 1978 BMW Automobile, 425 So. 2d 1077 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988) and In Re 1979 Lincoln Continental, etc., 405 So. 2d 249 (Fla. This decision will have a major effect on 3rd DCA 1981). forfeiture proceedings in the first district, due to the fact that 932.704(1) Fla. Stat. (1989) requires that the seizing agency shall promptly proceed against a contraband article by rule to show cause in the circuit court within jurisdiction in which the seizure or the offense This result will not only cause inconsistent results for contraband articles that are jointly owned but may additionally encourage forum shopping where the offense occurred in counties subject to the jurisdiction of the Second and Third District Courts of Appeal when the seizure occurred in counties subject to the law of the First District Court of Appeal.

It is unquestionable that Florida possesses some of the worst problems in the nation in dealing with drug related Among the goals sought by the state under the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act are elimination of the instrumentalities used to facilitate a crime, removal of the weapons of the drug trade, prevention of immediate and future personal and economic losses, and to obtain reimbursement of any cost to the State in connection with drug related activity. The harms and costs associated with drug related activities include, but are not limited to, illicit profits from actual drug sales, severe collateral consequences such as drug addition, increased drug violence, drug prevention and education, and the state's investigative, enforcement and incarceration costs.

By providing for the forfeiture to be in rem, the Legislature clearly manifested its intent to provide uniform The Act was originally enacted by Ch. 73civil sanctions. 331, Laws of Florida. See Griffis v. State, 356 So. 2d 297 (Fla. 1978); Duckham v. State, 478 So. 2d 347 (Fla. 1985). The legislative intent of the Statute is contained in the introductory language to the enactment, which notes the signing into law by the President of the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970, and expresses the intent of the Legislature to create uniformity between the laws of Florida and the laws of the United States. The decision below has the effect of reducing one of the tools available to law enforcement in its fight against drug activity and other related crimes in this district. decision will have a major effect on forfeiture proceedings in the first district and may in fact create a haven for additional criminal activity. The above-stated issue is of great public importance and should be reviewed by the Supreme Court of Florida.

CONCLUSION

Because the decision below conflicts with several decisions of other Florida appellate courts, this Court should accept jurisdiction to review and quash the District Court's decision.