095

FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN RE: Forfeiture of 1985

Ford Ranger Pickup Truck VIN #1FTBR10S7FUB74784, Florida License #802-DPU; and \$453.00 U.S. Currency.

CASE NO.: 78,456

On Petition for Discretionary Review of the Decision of the First District Court of Appeal of the State of Florida

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

John F. Daniel
Florida Bar No. 118098
DANIEL & KOMAREK, CHARTERED
Post Office Box 2522
Panama City, Florida 32402
(904) 763-6565
Attorney for Respondents

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the First District Court of Appeal does appear to conflict with a decision on the same subject rendered by the Second District Court of Appeal. However, it would be inappropriate for this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in light of the very recent and comprehensive decision rendered by this Court in Department of Law Enforcement v. Real Property, — So.2d —, 16 F.L.W. S497 (Fla. Aug. 15, 1991). The recency of that decision, and the relatively small value of the property seized in the case sub judice, render this case unsuitable for the Court's exercise of its discretionary power to assume jurisdiction.

ARGUMENT

WHILE THE DECISION BELOW OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL MAY APPEAR TO CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF ANOTHER DISTRICT, THE INSTANT CASE IS NOT AN APPROPRIATE ONE FOR THE EXERCISE OF THIS COURT'S DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION.

Respondent does not dispute that the opinion below of the First District Court of Appeal in the case <u>subjudice</u> expressly and directly conflicts with the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>In reforfeiture of 1978 BMW Automobile</u>, 524 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988).

Likewise, the First District's conclusion that "the State is not entitled to take the property of one who did no wrong and knew of no wrong" is inconsistent with dicta to the contrary in the Third District's opinion in <u>In re Forfeiture of 1979 Lincoln Continental</u>, 405 So.2d 249, 250 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981).

Nevertheless, this is not an appropriate case for the exercise of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. Neither of the First District's sister courts had the benefit of this Court's recent exhaustive review of the Florida law of forfeiture in Department of Law Enforcement v. Real Property, — So.2d —, 16 F.L.W. S497 (Fla. Aug. 15, 1991). The principles of Florida constitutional law set out in that opinion will likely have a substantial influence on any appellate court which is confronted by the question of an "innocent owner" in the future, as well as any future legislative action on this subject. Those principles include:

[W]hether less restrictive alternatives were available; and whether individuals are ultimately being treated in a fundamentally unfair manner in derogation of their substantive rights.

16 F.L.W. at S498.

In construing the Act, we note that forfeitures are considered harsh exactions, and as a general rule they are not favored in law or equity. Therefore, this Court has long followed a policy

that it must strictly construe forfeiture statutes.

16 F.L.W. at S498.

[A]ll doubts as to the validity of a statute are to be resolved in favor of constitutionality where possible.

16 F.L.W. at S498.

Property rights are among the basic substantive rights expressly protected by the Florida Constitution. Art. I, § 2, Fla. Const.; see Shriners Hosps. for Crippled Children v. Zrillic, 563 So.2d 64, 68 (Fla. 1990) (article I, section 2 protects all incidents of property ownership from infringement by the state unless regulations are reasonably necessary to secure the health, safety, good order, and general welfare of the public).

16 F.L.W. at S499.

This Court has consistently held that the constitution requires substantial burdens of proof where state action may deprive individuals of basic rights.

16 F.L.W. at S501.

Discretionary review in this case is therefore inappropriate until the full effect of this new emphasis on Article I, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution can be digested in the appellate courts.

Further, as the brief of the State stresses, disposition of this cause may have a substantial effect on law enforcement. Appellee is not the best qualified litigant. Unlike the property owners in <u>Department of Law Enforcement v. Real Property</u>, supra, his stake is minimal, viz., one 1985 Ford Ranger pickup truck.

Further, exercise of jurisdiction by this Court over that personalty may only serve to create more uncertainties than it may resolve. As this Court recently discussed in Department of Law Enforcement v. Real Property, supra, substantially different treatment may be necessary for residences or real property under the forfeiture statutes. Cf., Caggiano v. Butterworth, —, 16 F.L.W. D1642 (Fla. 2d DCA, June 21, 1991) (homestead not subject to RICO forfeiture).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and remand this cause to the trial court.